UNITED
NATIONS C R C

. Distr.
Convention on the CENERAL
Rights of the Child CRG/ & SR 391

21 August 1997

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD COF THE 391st MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 2 June 1997, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 97- 16878 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.10 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (CRC/C/11/Add.8, CRC/C/ Q AZER 1 (List of issues
to be taken up in connection with the consideration of the initial report of
Azerbaijan); (witten replies by Azerbaijan to questions asked in the List of
i ssues to be taken up) (docunment wi thout synbol distributed at the neeting in
English only)) (continued)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the del egation of Azerbaijan
resuned its place at the Conmmittee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON invited the menmbers of the del egation of Azerbaijan to
reply to the questions raised by the Cormittee at the previous neeting.

3. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan), referring to the question of the definition
of the child, said that various draft |egislative texts currently under

consi deration envisaged a series of different ages for access to various
rights. At present the mninmum age for service in the armed forces was

18 years and the m ninum age for seeking redress in court w thout being
represented by one's parents was 16. The mininum age for marriage was

18 years for boys and 16 for girls, the difference being due to the country's
traditions, of which the authorities had to take account.

4, Wth regard to the role of the boy child and the girl child in the

fam |y, he pointed out that Azerbaijan, which was a secular republic, did not
apply Islamc law. That was why, under the |aw, boys and girls enjoyed the
sanme rights. No special |egislation had been adopted to inplenent the
recommendati ons of the Fourth World Conference on Wonen, but Azerbaijan was
carrying out a programme of assistance to the young fam |y which took account
of nost of the concerns expressed at the Beijing Conference. Disabled
children received an all owance up to the age of 16 years. Wth regard,
finally, to incorporating the Convention in donestic |law, he said it should be
borne in m nd that Azerbaijan was a young State which had been given a new
Constitution only in Novenber 1996. Moreover, Azerbaijan had acceded to
nunerous international instrunents that would progressively be incorporated in
national legislation. To that end the Azerbaijani authorities would like to
be able to take advantage of technical assistance.

5. M . KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that under the | aw on education al
citizens without discrimnation nust enjoy the benefit of education for at

| east eight years. At the end of the eighth year, a citizen mght extend his
studies until the eleventh year. At the end of the eleventh year any pupi
who had gained a diploma had the right to take a conpetitive exam nation and
to enrol in universities and other institutions of higher education according
to his results. The public universities were free, and the private

i nstitutions of higher education fee-paying.

6. For reasons to do with the country's traditions and prevailing
attitudes, the age for sexual consent was not laid down in any law. The only
age explicitly stipulated was that for marriage. A |law dating back to the
Soviet period permitting girls of 11 to marry had been repealed. It was true



CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 3

that at the beginning of the 1990s child nortality had increased. The
phenonmenon was essentially due to the consequences of the conflict with
Arnmenia. There had been transfers of population fromthe territories where
the conflict was taking place, and that had caused serious epi dem ol ogi ca
problems. Since the ceasefire the Azerbaijani authorities had managed to
bring the situation under control with the assistance of the internationa
organi zati ons, notably UN CEF, which had hel ped to organi ze a vacci nation
programme. |In that connection it was worth noting that the entire popul ation
of Azerbaijan was now vacci nated agai nst poliomyelitis.

7. Azerbaijan currently enbraced 80 different nationalities and ethnic
groups, and several religions, including Islam Christianity and Judai sm
Wth regard to efforts to conmbat discrimnation, he pointed out that the
Presi dent of Azerbaijan had promul gated a special decree on the pronotion and
protection of the freedons and rights of mnorities and ethnic groups.
Finally, although it was true that the | egislation accorded equal rights to
the boy child and the girl child in the famly, it neverthel ess had to be
acknow edged that traditions died hard and that young girls, who were expected
to become housew ves, were nore often called upon to undertake househol d

t asks, whereas boys received an education geared nore to the outside world
than to the hone.

8. Ms. EVAZOVA (Azerbaijan) said that her country had ratified the Geneva
Conventions in 1993, the Convention on the Elimnation of Al Forns of

Di scrim nati on Agai nst Wonen in 1995 and the Convention Agai nst Torture and
O her Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatnment or Puni shnent and the

I nternational Convention on the Elimnation of Al Forns of Racial

Di scrimnation in 1996

9. Ms. KARP pointed out that the witten replies provided by the

del egati on of Azerbaijan indicated that children aged from 15 to 18 could
defend their rights before the courts. That appeared to conflict with the
information given orally by the delegation. She asked whether the authorities
i ntended specifically to establish in the new | egislation the right of
children to be heard in any judicial and adm nistrative proceedi ngs affecting
them Lastly, she wished to know how children were represented before the
courts when their interests clashed with those of their parents or guardi ans.

10. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) said that the rights of children aged from 15
to 18 were defended by their parents or guardians, although children aged
over 16 were entitled to defend their interests before the courts al one.

11. Ms. SARDENBERG asked whether, despite its having been an i ndependent
State only since 1991, Azerbaijan's authorities had drawn up a programe to
take into account the recommendations of the Wrld Sumit for Children, held
in New York in 1990. It was her inpression that Azerbaijan's population stil
had a rather outdated view of the child s place within the fam |y and society.
However, the people of Azerbaijan appeared to be building a new denocracy and
the tinme seened right to encourage a public debate on the role of the child
and to conduct relevant research. The legal prohibition of all forns of

di scrimnation between nen and wonen was to be wel coned, but she wi shed to
know what was the actual situation of wonmen in Azerbaijan.




CRC/ ¢/ SR. 391
page 4

12. Ms. MBO said that it was inportant to define an age for sexual consent.
In all societies, people had sexual relations outside marriage, regardl ess of
whet her tradition favoured themor not. The relatively |arge nunber of

chil dren aged under five suffering fromsexually transm ssible di seases was
sufficient evidence that that was al so the case in Azerbaijan. Consequently,
and in view of the fact that the phenonmenon of sexual violence against
children was on the increase in nany countries, it was inmportant to set
relevant limts.

13. Ms. MOKHUANE asked whether there were any procedures to enable the
popul ation to participate in drawing up the draft |aw on adoption. She also
asked why restrictions had been inposed, contrary to article 15 of the
Convention, on the right to freedom of association and peaceful assenbly.

14. Ms. OUEDRAOGO asked the Azerbaijani delegation to conplete the
information it had provided in reply to question 19 on birth registration, in
order to clarify the allegation that births of handi capped and refugee
children were not registered. She also found the reply to question 20

wanti ng, because, although specific nmeasures to protect children from physica
or sexual violence were described, no nention was made of their actual nature,
of the machinery set up to inplenent themand of how cases of violence were
brought to the attention of the judicial authorities.

15. M. RABAH said that, he too, would appreciate additional information on
how births were registered and on the obstacl es preventing the proper
registration of births. He noted that there were a | arge nunber of refugees
in Azerbaijan and asked what requirenents were laid down for acquiring

Azer baijani nationality. Lastly, he asked whether the mninmum | egal age for
enpl oynent, 16 years, was observed in practice

16. M. KOLOSOV asked what provisions applied to relations between fathers,
nmot hers and children in case of divorce, and whether both parents could keep
in touch with their children regardl ess of who had their custody. He al so drew
attention to a gap between the age at which conpul sory schooling term nated
(15) and the mnimum age for enploynent (16). A 15-year-old child, who did
not wi sh to continue his studies but who was not yet entitled to work, would
face probl emns.

17. The CHAI RPERSON, speaking as a nenber of the Conmittee, and referring to
the answer given to question 17, asked whether the principle of respect for
the views of the child, which was set forth in law, was also applied in
practice, particularly within the famly. She also asked how the principle of
the best interests of the child would be reflected in the new Act on the
rights of the child, whether it was already applied in practice and whether it
was debated in public. Referring to the statenent that Azerbaijani society
was sonewhat traditionalist, she asked whether, |ike many other countries

whi ch had achi eved i ndependence, Azerbaijan was opening up to foreign

i nfluence and to what extent the behavi our of young people was affected by it.

18. M. EFENDI YEV (Azerbaijan) said that even before independence, wonen had
pl ayed a major role in Azerbaijan's politics and society. Many of them
currently held | eadi ng positions.




CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 5

19. He then replied briefly to the questions that had just been asked:
Azerbaijani citizenship was automatically acquired by any child who was raised
in Azerbaijan, regardless of his parents' nationality; birth registration was
very strictly controlled; access to the foreign nmedia and to the world's
literature was facilitated fromearly chil dhood, and the teaching of foreign

| anguages, which facilitated such access was becom ng wi despread, despite the
current lack of qualified teachers.

20. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan) added that a parlianmentary human rights

commi ssion and a social policy commission were responsible for all matters
relating to the famly, children, sport, health, nedicine, the disabled, etc.
and that the two conm ssions occasionally drew up bills jointly. The
Azerbaijani authorities were also endeavouring to enlighten public opinion and
made available to the public all the nodern neans of comunication and of
information, ranging fromtelevision - CNN was received in Azerbaijan - to
those of computer science, and practised a policy of welcom ng foreigners in
order to enable Azerbaijan shortly to take its place anmong the nations of

Eur ope and the worl d.

21. A nunber of points had been raised regarding the disabled. As far as
failure to register their birth was concerned, he refuted the information and
said that the forrmalities for the registration of births made such a practice
i mpossi ble. The financial needs of the disabled were met by the health

i nsurance system which fully covered the health needs of all disabled
persons, and by allowances paid to the famlies of disabled children unti
they reached the age of 18 years.

22. Regardi ng freedom of assenbly and associ ation, he said that there were
yout h organi zations and that an act providing for the provision of meeting

pl aces for young people was being drawn up. Furthernore, under the provisions
of the Act on Access to Enpl oynent, which had just been adopted, children
could sign a contract of enploynent fromthe age of 16 and were authorized to
do so fromthe age of 14 with the agreenment of their parents or guardi an

23. He recogni zed that sexual relations outside narriage were in a |lega
vacuum but said that |egislation under consideration would fill the vacuum
and al so determ ne the age for sexual consent. Lastly, although the place of
children within the famly and society was not the subject of an actual public
debate, sociol ogical studies of the issue were under way and a worki ng group
of the relevant parlianentary conm ssion had been given the task of sounding
out public opinion and determining howto reflect it in |egislation.

24. M . KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that there were 80 youth associ ati ons,
that 12 organi zations dealt with the problens of children and that there were
al nrost 200 sports schools, in addition to clubs and cultural centres to
provide for artistic developnent. It was true that only one survey - UN CEF s
survey of street children - had focused on the opinion of children, but that
was al ready a beginning. Azerbaijan was a new country that still had much to
do in terms of legislation and practice to inplenment many of the principles

al ready well established in the West.



CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 6

25. Ms. EVAZOVA (Azerbaijan) said that as a result of the Arnenian attack
on Azerbaijan nore than 300,000 Azerbaijani children were living in refugee
canps and were short of food and school equipnment. Furthernore, in the
territories occupied by Arnenia schools, social infrastructure, créeches and
ki ndergartens had been destroyed and the CGovernnent | acked the neans to carry
out the indispensable reconstruction

26. The CHAI RPERSON, referring to question 20 of the list of issues, asked
what concrete steps the Governnent had taken to protect children who were the
victinms of physical or sexual abuse. She said that she would also like to
know whet her the Governnent had adopted |egislation to protect children from
the ill-effects of what might be called video culture, i.e. filnms portraying
vi ol ence or sexual acts, for exanple by prohibiting the sale or renting of
por nogr aphi ¢ magazi nes or cassettes to children under the age of 18 years.

27. Ms. KARP, referring to the Governnent's reply to question 31 of the
list of issues, asked why it nmentioned the recei pt of pensions by disabled
children aged under 16, rather than under 18. It also seenmed that under
Azerbaijani legislation a representative of the public authorities was
entitled to be present during neetings of private associations. She asked for
further information on that provision which, if it existed, was likely to

hi nder freedom of associ ation

28. Regar di ng di sabl ed or refugee children, she asked whether the
authorities were doing everything possible to avert the possibility of

di scrimnation agai nst sone children through |ack of access or restricted
access to public services and whether there was a housi ng programe for such
children in Azerbaijan. She also enphasized the vital inmportance of providing
an effective health and educati onal data-collection programme. She asked

whet her Azerbaijan possessed statistical resources to identify the nunber of
cases of violations of the rights of the child and thus determ ne preventive
strategies.

29. Ms. OUEDRAOGO asked whether it was intended to set the same
marri ageabl e age for girls and boys in order to put an end to that form of
gender - based di scrimnation

30. Ms. SARDENBERG asked for further information in connection with the
Governnment's reply to question 24 of the list of issues concerning the
benefits and, in particular, concerning the special |eave, to which nothers
with two or nore children under 14 or a disabled child under 16 years of age
were entitled. She also asked whether the Government had drawn up a
conprehensi ve action programme for children as a foll owup neasure to the
World Sunmit for Children.

31. M. RABAH said that he would |ike to know what neasures the Governnent
had taken to deal with the problem of street children

32. M. RADJABOV (Azerbaijan), replying to Ms. Sardenberg, said that the
reply to question 24 referred to disabled children aged under 16 because
children aged over 16 were entitled to work and were covered by rehabilitation




CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 7

programes drawn up in conjunction with UNICEF and the Red Cross. However,
even if they were enpl oyed, disabled children were entitled to ad hoc benefits
or all owances.

33. Wth regard to marri ageabl e age, he said that the difference between
boys and girls could be explained by the fact that in Azerbaijan girls were
considered to be physically mature earlier than boys, and he added that with
speci al consent the age could be | owered by one year for both boys and girls.

34. Regardi ng refugee children, it was true to say that they suffered from
di scrimnation in conparison with other children. However, responsibility for
the discrimnation did not lie with the Governnent, but rather with the
Armeni an aggressors and the international comunity for its failure to help to
sol ve the probl em

35. M. KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that it was difficult to put into
statistical terns cases of violations of the rights of the child. However,
the Governnent woul d endeavour to meke good that shortcom ng and had al ready
made plans to establish, within the Mnistry of Youth and Sports Affairs,
machi nery to allow nore precise data and information to be gathered on young
people. The authorities neverthel ess knew how many children had been kill ed
or disabled as a result of the war in Nagorny Karabakh. Mreover, regarding
di scrimnation against certain children, he said that a UNI CEF programe had
been introduced to create jobs for orphans and the disabled in order to
integrate theminto society.

36. In reply to the question by Ms. Karp, he said that the | aw nmade no
provision for a representative of the authorities to be present during the
meeti ngs of private associations. The CGovernnment planned to take nmeasures to
ensure that each comunity could use its own |anguage. Currently, children
living in small villages could study in Russian and Azeri, although in
practice, as there were sonetines barely 100 children in such villages, it was
difficult to prepare teaching material in their |anguage for them al one.
Lastly, the sale or renting to mnors of magazi nes or video cassettes

gl ori fying pornography or violence was prohi bited by |aw

37. The CHAI RPERSON invited the nmenbers of the Conmittee to ask any
guestions they had concerning fanmly environment and alternative care (list of
i ssues, paras. 22-30).

38. Ms. OUEDRAOGO said that she would like to know, in connection with the
reply to question 22, in what circunstances children who were refugees or

or phans because of the Arnenian aggression were admitted to State
institutions. She asked for information on cooperation with UNHCR in that
sphere and wi shed to know what inpact the econonmic crisis had had on access by
those children to welfare benefits. She would also like to know the divorce
rate in Azerbaijan and woul d appreci ate additional information on the nmenta
health of the children of divorced couples. Was the child's opinion taken
into account in determ ning custody. She also wi shed to know whet her

Azer baijan planned to becone a party to the Hague Convention on Protection of
Chil dren and Cooperation in Respect of Intercountry Adoption




CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 8

39. Referring to the Education Act, nmentioned in the reply to question 29,
she asked what criteria were used to decide whether to place a child in one

type of establishnment rather than another and whether the child s views were
taken into account. She also asked whether a section of the new children's

code woul d deal with the problem of abuse of children within the famly.

40. Ms. KARP asked whether the planned new | egislation concerning adoption
woul d nmake it possible for adoptive children to know who their biol ogica
parents were, contrary to the current Act which provided for their nane and
even their first name to be changed, but made no provision to allow children
to see their original birth certificate. She noted that in Azerbaijan many
di spl aced children were cared for by close relatives who brought them up

wi t hout adopting themor even being officially awarded custody, and asked what
measures were taken to protect the rights of those children and of the
famlies who had taken themin. She also asked what the Government's policy
t owards orphans or children deprived of their famly environnent was, and in
particul ar what alternative solutions were provided, in view of the shortage
of |l arge establishnents, and whether there were any plans to nake greater use
of famly placenment. In view of the |large nunmber of displaced or refugee
children separated fromtheir famly, she would also |ike to know whet her any
institution was responsible for helping themto trace their famly and if so,
how it operated. Lastly, she asked whether Azerbaijan had any data on

vi ol ence agai nst wonen and against children within the famly, both of which
were |inked, and whether there were any guidelines and institutions to dea
with the problem

41. Ms. MBO said that she doubted the reliability of data, and in
particul ar data relating to adol escent suicides, according to which the
suicide rate had fallen anong 15-24 year-old nales but had al nrost doubl ed
anong young wonen in the same age group. She al so asked what sol ution or
conbi nati on of solutions the Governnment of Azerbaijan intended to favour, in
view of the circunstances, to care for adol escents, such as adoption, famly
pl acenment in Azerbaijan, inter-country adoption or institutional placement.

42. Ms. SARDENBERG noted that there were many fenal e heads of single-parent
fam lies in Azerbaijan and asked whether any studies had been carried out into
the matter and whether the Governnent planned to develop a policy to inprove
their circunstances.

43. M. KOOSOV said he noted fromthe report that only 1 per cent of

the 300,000 child refugees in Azerbaijan were attending school. He asked what
the situation of the other refugee children was. |In that connection, he
suggested that it would be preferable to describe them as displaced children
since many of them had conme, not froma foreign country, but from occupied
Azerbaijani territory. |In the sane connection, he would like to know whet her
in Azerbaijan all displaced persons were registered and i ssued with a docunent
officially attesting to their status.

44, Noting that the Azerbaijani Parlianment had just adopted an amendment to
the Marriage and Family Code, extending to foreign citizens the sane rights as
Azerbaijani citizens enjoyed in respect of adoption and sinplifying the
procedure by giving responsibility for the final decision to the |oca
authorities, he expressed his concern that, as Azerbaijan was not a party to



CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 9

t he Hague Convention on Protection of Children and Cooperation in Respect of
Intercountry Adoption, it would be inpossible for its authorities to nonitor
the living conditions of children sent abroad for adoption

45. He asked whet her the Governnent planned to introduce machinery and to
draw up plans for gradually inproving the circunstances of the npst
underprivil eged sectors of society, in particular by increasing the allowances
paid to reduce the rising number of children abandoned at birth by destitute
not hers and of street children. Furthernore, regarding living conditions in
or phanages and other institutions caring for children, he asked whether, in
view of the insufficient resources assigned to them the Government planned to
real |l ocate certain budgetary funds to renedy the situation and thus nmeet its
conmitnents under article 4 of the Convention, by guaranteeing decent |iving
conditions for those children who were already deprived of their famly.

46. The CHAI RPERSON asked whet her Azerbaijan had introduced educati ona
programmes and fanmily counselling services for parents to help themto
understand their responsibilities towards their children, and whether it had
i ntroduced |l egislation to conpel parents to neet their financial obligations
towards their children. She al so asked whet her Azerbaijan had concl uded or
pl anned to conclude bilateral or multilateral agreenents to conpel an
expatriate parent to nmeet the needs of his child or children left in
Azer bai j an

47. Ms. MOKHUANE said that, according to information she had received, a
public boardi ng establishnment had been closed in 1993 and sone of its boarders
pl aced in an establishnment for patients with psychol ogi cal disorders. She
asked whet her the del egati on was aware of the case and if any neasures had
been taken to remedy the situation

48. M. KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that the Mnistry of Youth and Sports
Affairs had drawn up a draft special assistance progranme for fam lies, which
was currently being considered by the Parlianent, and that the definitive
programe woul d take into account the ideas put forward by the nenbers of the
Committee. He confirmed that the word “refugee” used in the report covered
internally displaced persons.

49. M . EFENDI YEV (Azerbaijan) added that in Azerbaijan there were both

di spl aced persons and refugees in the strict sense of the word, i.e. people
who had been driven froma foreign country, in particular Arnmenia, in 1987 and
1988, and that since 1990 refugees of Turkish origin had also arrived from
Central Asia, together with Georgians. As a result there were currently

300, 000 foreign refugees and 700, 000 forcibly displaced persons in Azerbaijan

50. M . KARAYEV (Azerbaijan) said that many children who had been |eft
parentl ess by the war were indeed raised in the famly of near relatives in
different regions of Azerbaijan. There had not yet been any | egislation on
the practice but the Governnent planned to provide assistance for fam lies who
took in children and brought themup as their own. Moreover, that solution
cost the Governnment |ess than the huge orphanages inherited fromthe Sovi et
period, while enabling children to enjoy a famly atnosphere that was nore
favourabl e for their psychol ogi cal devel opment. Regarding the orphanage sone
of whose inmates had all egedly been transferred to other establishnents,



CRC/ C/ SR. 391
page 10

i ncludi ng hospitals, he asked whether the source of the information could
contact the Azerbaijani delegation to enable it to ascertain whether it was
true.

51. The Government had taken neasures to reduce the nunber of street
children, taking into account the views of the children concerned. The action
was essentially conducted by ad hoc comr ssions responsible for “problent

chil dren, which had been set up in all regions of Azerbaijan and which

i ncl uded representatives of NGOs, teachers, social workers and educators.

52. The CHAI RPERSON sai d that the Azerbaijani delegation would reply to the
guestions not yet taken up at the Conmittee's next neeting.

The neeting rose at 6 p.m




